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GLEN ROYALL MILL VILLAGE 
HISTORIC DISTRICT 

National Register 
 

The Glen Royall Mill Village Historic District was listed on the 

National Register of Historic Places on August 27, 1999 and 

has a period of significance from 1900 to 1949.  This 

residential area is characterized by an irregular grid of streets 

laid out c. 1899.  House lots were not surveyed until 1941 when 

the village owner, the Royall Cotton Mill decided to sell the 

houses.   

 

The Royall Cotton Mill was incorporated in 1899, during a 

period of major expansion in North Carolina’s textile industry, 

to spin and weave cotton, producing cotton sheeting skein yarn, 

becoming one of North Carolina’s premiere textile concerns.  

Construction on the mill and village began in 1900.  The mill 

hired contractor Benjamin Thomas Hooks to construct the 

village housing according to plans and specifications prepared 

by mill superintendent John D. Briggs.   

 

Residents shopped at the mill commissary located at the corner of Brewer Avenue and Brick 

Street, now converted into apartments, worshipped at a church in the village, and their children 

were educated in village schools.  The early mill workforce is said to have come principally from 

a nearby area known as “The Hurricanes”, an 

area known for its hard-scrabble farms and moon 

shining, but some operatives came from other 

mill communities.  The mill continued in 

operation until a shift from cotton to synthetics 

in the 1970s resulted in the closure of the mill in 

April 1976.   

 

Beginning in 1900 the Royall Cotton Mill 

management built housing for its mill 

operatives and their families.  These one-story 

Pyramidal House 

Triple-A House 
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frame houses originally featured weatherboard 

siding, wood shingle roofing, and brick 

foundation piers and flues.  The dominant 

house in the village is a pyramidal roofed four 

room form, excluding ells or wings, with a 

central brick flue.  The second most numerous 

type is the “triple-A” cottage, so named for its 

distinctive roof with two end gables and a 

third, decorative gable on the front elevation.  

The larger, multi-gabled mill superintendent’s 

house at 105 East Chestnut Avenue is related 

to this form. There are also several shotgun-

form houses, distinguished by their narrow 

gabled fronts.   

 

The Powell-Drake House (a.k.a. Powell-White House), located at 614 North Main Street but 

actually faces East Cedar Avenue, is the exception as to house and lot size and style.  This house 

is the largest and most architecturally refined in the district.  This large two story house has a 

large lot and features Queen Ann, Craftsman, and Colonial Revival attributes, wrap-around 

porch supported by classical columns, porte-

cochere, front entry with sidelights and 

transom, and leaded windows.  Robert Powell 

apparently built the house, beginning in 1909, 

although the property wasn’t deeded to him 

until 1913.  He was the son of one of the mill 

founders and served the mill in a number of 

capacities.  When the mill village was an 

incorporated town the resident of this house 

was the only voter in town other than the 

Royall Cotton Mill, the only other property 

owner.  Its major renovation in the 1990s 

resulted in the owners, Frank and Kathryn 

Drake, receiving an Anthemion Award from 

Capital Area Preservation in 1998.     

 

The Glen Royall mill village was incorporated as 

the Town of Royall Cotton Mills in 1907 with the 

mill directors serving as the town commissioners.  

Apparently the principal motivation behind 

incorporation was a desire by the mill 

management to avoid annexation by Wake Forest, 

an action that would have doubled the mill’s tax 

burden.  The town’s charter was repealed in 1945 

but not actually annexed into the Town of Wake 

Forest until 1977!  A company owned church and 

school, now incorporated into the Glen Royal 

Shotgun House 

Powell-Drake House (c. 1915) 

Superintendent's House 
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Baptist Church at the corner of 

Elizabeth Street and East Chestnut 

Avenue, was constructed during the 

first decade of the 20
th

 century and a 

separate public graded school, no 

longer existing, was built on an 

adjoining site by 1926.   

 

During the 1920s and 1930s, home 

construction in the village tapered 

off due to a period of economic 

downturn at the mill.  However, 

construction began again 

immediately following the end of 

World War II, with Cape Cod 

cottages and other house forms built 

on undeveloped lots.  Post-1949 

houses are relatively few.   

 

The pyramidal, “triple-A”, and shotgun houses erected at Glen Royall were representative of a 

new architectural approach to the mill house building type.  Traditionally, a 2-story hall and 

parlor plan was used in mill housing.  However, new forms began appearing around the turn of 

the 20
th

 century.  In her 1929 study “Welfare Work in Mill Villages, The Story of Extra-Mill 

Activities in North Carolina” Harriet L. Herring conjectured that the new trend toward pyramidal 

cottages, or “square-topped” houses, resulted from the beginning of the bungalow influence.  

True bungalows became dominant after about 1915.  Mill owners were careful to build a mix of 

houses of difference room numbers so 

as to accommodate the needs of their 

renters.  Three-room houses were 

“popular with newly married couples 

and small families who do not want to 

take boarders”, whereas the larger 

houses permitted “doubling up” of 

families and the taking in of boarders 

during periods of peak production and 

employment.  The evidence suggests 

that Glen Royall families took in 

boarders even if their particular house 

model was small.  Glen Royall displays 

the mix of house sizes described by 

Herring, as well as both triple-A and 

pyramidal houses with double front 

doors suggesting the potential for conversion into duplexes.  The dominant triple-A and 

pyramidal forms alternate along the principal north-south streets of Elizabeth and Mill, with one 

type facing its mirror image across the street but flanked on each side by the other type.  Mill 

villages where “no two adjoining houses are alike” were declared by some industry analysts to 

Brewer Street 

Mill Commissary (now apartments) 
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be a sign of social health, but in her interviews with mill workers Herring noted that few seemed 

to care whether their dwellings looked the same or different from adjoining houses.   

 

The Glen Royall Mill Village retains a high degree of architectural integrity.  Most of the 

neighborhood’s original housing stock survives and the historic street pattern remains unaltered.  

Historic yard patterns and shade tree distributions have been preserved or perpetuated.  The 1900 

Royall Cotton Mill is contiguous to the district but is not included owing to loss of integrity.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corner of Brewer St. & Brick Ave. 
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DOWNTOWN WAKE FOREST 
HISTORIC DISTRICT 

National Register 
 

The Downtown Wake Forest Historic District was listed on 

the National Register of Historic Places on February 20, 2002 

and has a period of significance from c. 1890 to 1951.  It is the 

commercial core of the Town of Wake Forest.  All buildings 

in this district were built between 1890 and 1949 and range 

from one story to 3 stories in height.  Most are of brick 

construction but a few built during the 1940s are of cinder 

block.  Many buildings were built in the mid-1910s after a 

devastating fire.  Typical façade features include metal 

cornices, corbelling and other decorative brickwork, upper-

story windows in flat-headed or segmental-arched openings, 

and storefronts with display windows, transoms, and recessed 

entries.  Most buildings are only remotely influenced by 

period styles but a few from the 1940s exhibit stylistic influence, typically the Colonial Revival 

and Art Deco styles.  The historic functions of the buildings represent the usual variety of a 

downtown, including upper floor apartments.  The district’s streets were paved and concrete 

sidewalks installed prior to World War II.   

 

The district retains its basic character 

and integrity.  Commercial buildings 

retain character-defining features such 

as relatively unaltered upper stories, 

parapets and cornices, and, in most 

cases, storefronts with display windows, 

transoms, recessed entries, etc.  Where 

modern façade improvements were 

made, most are sympathetic with the 

character of the original.  Obviously 

modern buildings were excluded from 

the district, helping to define the 

boundaries.   

 

The establishment of the Wake Forest 

depot in 1874 stimulated the growth of the town and marked the beginning of commercial 

development within the district boundaries.  Lots were laid out on the east side of the railroad 

tracks near the depot, partly on college land, and the area was incorporated by the state 

legislature in 1880 as the Town of Wake Forest College.  The new lots were located on White 

Street, named after the second president of Wake Forest College, and cross streets were named 

after another president (Wait), a professor (Owen), and the owner of the plantation on which the 
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college and town developed (Jones).  The 

college community represented the 

district’s principal clientele, at least at first, 

but the district also served the commercial 

needs of the surrounding countryside and, 

after 1900, of the several hundred workers 

and dependents from the Glen Royall Mill 

Village, located on the northern edge of 

town.   

 

Most early commercial buildings in the 

district were frame construction but some 

chose to build of brick rather than wood 

before 1900.  The two three story brick 

commercial buildings from the period were, 

and still are, the largest in the district:  the Powers-Barbee Building and the Wilkinson Building.   

 

Frame buildings were more susceptible to fire than brick ones and at least two fires are known to 

have depleted the district’s first generation of commercial buildings, the most recent large scale 

fire occurring in 1915.  A number of brick buildings were constructed immediately after the 1915 

fire including the Arrington Building, Mangum’s Grocery, and Jones Hardware.  For a brief 

period before the construction of specialized filling stations beginning in the 1920s, gasoline was 

sold from pumps located in front of White Street stores.  One of these survives – a Bowser 

Enclosed Long Distance Pump that stands in front of the Wilkinson Building.   

 

Buildings of the 1930s and 1940s 

show a shift toward greater 

architectural sophistication in the 

district.  The Colonial Revival 

style enjoyed the greatest 

popularity, perhaps reinforced by 

the predominately Colonial 

Revival character of the 

construction at Wake Forest 

College.  One such building is the 

1940 Wake Forest Post Office, 

designed in accordance with 

standardized Treasury 

Department plans and 

specifications.  The c. 1940 Ben’s 

of Wake Forest Building shows 

banded parapet brickwork that is 

Art Deco in character and the 

Lovelace Building suggests Moderne influence.  Another development of the 1940s was the use 

of cinder-block construction, such as seen in the late 1940s J. W. Fort Barbecue Restaurant.  

 

South White Street (1930s) 

Old Post Office Building (1940) 
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A local tragedy resulted in the 

construction of the railroad overpass 

in 1935.  Tradition holds that the 

overpass was constructed to replace 

an at-grade crossing after an accident 

involving a school bus filled with 

children.  It is supported at its two 

ends by abutments with angled walls 

and scored surfaces.  Inside the 

abutments at the two edges of the 

street are arcades that run parallel to 

the street and are supported by stout 

square-section pillars.  Above, at the 

level of the tracks, are balustrades 

with arched openings.   

 

 Primarily due to the move of the college to Winston-Salem development in downtown 

essentially ceased by the early 1950s.  Only two buildings have been built along S. White 

Street between East Roosevelt and Owen Avenues since, the 1971 Fidelity Bank (not 

included in this district) and the 2002 

Hale Building.  Downtown has 

compensated for the growth of suburban 

shopping centers by attracting specialty 

shops, restaurants, and professional 

offices.  A growing appreciation of 

historic ambiance among Wake Forest’s 

citizenry and the popular Renaissance 

Plan for the Heart of Wake Forest 

focusing on downtown have benefitted 

the downtown and inspired recent 

renovations and façade improvements, 

including the tax credit conversion of the 

W. W. Holding Co. Cotton Warehouse 

into an artist and gift emporium.   

  

 

 

 

 

Renovated Cotton Warehouse 
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LOCAL HISTORIC LANDMARKS 
 

SIX LOCAL HISTORIC LANDMARKS:  

Wake Forest has designated six local historic landmark properties, including: 

 I. O. Jones House (c. 1903) 

 Battle-Purnell House (1803) 

 Oakforest (c. 1807) 

 Purefoy-Chappell House (1838) 

 Heartsfield House (1803) 

 Ailey Young House (c. 1875) 

I. O. JONES HOUSE: 

This Queen Anne style house at 538 South Main Street was designated as a local historic 

landmark on March 14, 1991.  The I. O. Jones House is a large 2-story house with a pyramidal 

I. O. Jones House (1903) 
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roof, interior chimney, and a front-gabled 2-story wing with a cutaway bay window.  The 

pedimented gable has an oval Adamesque-style window.  The 1-over-1 sash windows are 

apparently original.  The wraparound 1-story porch has a gabled entrance bay, turned posts with 

sawnwork brackets, and a simple railing.  About 1925 a Craftsman-style entrance vestibule was 

added in front of the original entrance, and a small sunroom above it, perhaps in place of an 

original open upper-story porch.  At this time the side section of the porch was enclosed as a 

sunroom.   

The I. O. Jones House was constructed c. 1903 by Robert Freeman and his wife, Genoa Rox 

Hunter Freeman as a wedding gift for their daughter, Elizabeth, and her husband, Ira Otis Jones.  

Robert Freeman started the Wake Forest Supply Store in 1906, along with his son-in-law, I. O. 

Jones, and O. K. Holding.  In 1915-1916, after the death of Robert Freeman and O. K. Holding, 

I. O. Jones moved the store to another location in downtown Wake Forest.  In 1931 I. O. Jones’ 

son, Leland, entered the business and in 1931 they changed the name to Jones Hardware 

Company.  Jones Hardware remained in operation, at a couple different locations, until it finally 

closed in 2005, one year short of 100 years! 

I. O. Jones led an active life.  He had ventured into the financial sector, opening the Bank of 

Wake in 1928, along with others.  Not the best in timing for opening a bank, it closed in 1930, 

due to the economy.  He was a Trustee and a Deacon of the First Baptist Church of Wake Forest 

and was also active in several civic groups.  Twice in the 1950s he was elected the Headmaster 

of the local Masonic Lodge and he was also active with the Rotary Club.  He never ran to Town 

Council due to his belief that business and politics do not mix!   

The Jones House was always full of family, friends, or students from Wake Forest College, 

according to the memories of the grandchildren.  Because there was limited dormitory space at 

the college, the family often rented rooms to students and many of the boarders became close 

family friends.   

One of Elizabeth Jones’ interests was gardening, perhaps why the business eventually took on a 

decidedly “garden center” flare.  She had gardens on both sides of the house and a rock garden in 

the back.  In the summer there was always fresh vegetables and also homemade butter from the 

cow they kept out back.  Elizabeth (Lizzie) was interested in landscaping long before the average 

townsperson.  She was a member of the Wake Forest Garden Club for many years and serve on 

several committees.  Every spring she would allow townspeople to tour her immaculate lawn.   
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BATTLE-PURNELL HOUSE:                                                            

The Battle-Purnell House, located at 1037 North Main Street, was designated as a local landmark 

historic property on August 20, 2002.  This house was built by Josiah Battle in 1802-1803.  It is a 

2-story, T-shaped house, unusually large for its time.  The house originally had 300 acres 

accompanying it.  Josiah Battle was a local farmer and was a part owner of a local sawmill.  

After his death in 1826 the house passed to his son, John A. Battle.  By 1854 the house and land 

was owned by John and Mary Purnell.  In 1895 John Purnell died and the property was left to his 

wife and children.  The house was rented out over the years.  In the early 1900s the Jackson 

family purchased the property.  They were also farmers and produced honey.  The acreage 

decreased over the years until, at present, only nine acres remain with the house.  The current 

owners purchased the house and nine acres in 1991 and did an extensive renovation.   

 

The Battle-Purnell House is perhaps the largest and best-preserved late Georgian-style dwelling 

in rural Wake County.  Both the five-bay main block and the rear ell of the house are 2-stories 

tall.  Set on a high stone basement, the house is clad in plain weatherboards and displays raised-

panel doors with six panels, 9-over-9 sash windows, and window and door surrounds with three-

part moldings.  The three double-shouldered Flemish bond chimneys are handsomely finished 

with paved shoulders and glazed headers.  The kitchen addition was built out of old materials in 

keeping with the original structure.   

Battle-Purnell House (1802-1803) 
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OAKFOREST: 
 

 

Oakforest, located at 9958 Seawell Drive, was designated as a local historic landmark property 

on October 21, 2008.  The house stands on a stone and cinder block foundation, and originally 

was a Federal style hall and parlor house.  The original south-facing porch with its hand-hewn 

columns is still in use. The slender, round columns are unique in that the capitals and bases were 

all carved in one piece with the columns. An addition in the style of Greek Revival gave the 

house a double-pile, center hall-plan. The architectural style was in vogue in 1830-1840s. At that 

time the front door was changed from south facing to west. The double doors were centered in a 

rectangle of horizontal boards, and the veranda was covered as seen in the 1887 photograph. The 

1894 photograph shows an added portico. In 1895, a returned-eave pediment roof, four Doric 

columns, and a sawn work balustrade to the roof were added to the west porch. 

 

The south facing, three-bay façade contains double-hung, 9-over-9 sash windows on the first 

floor and double-hung, 6-over-9 sash windows on the second floor. Some of the original glass 

remains. Most of the features on the Greek Revival main elevation have also remained, such as 

the flush boarding on the entrance bay; the 6-over-6 sash windows with molded surround and 

bulls-eye corner blocks; double front doors with single vertical panes; and multi-paned transom 

and sidelights also with bulls-eye corner blocks.  

 

Oakforest (c. 1807) 
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The rear, pine, 2-story ell was built circa 1865.  The L-shaped, rear porch was added sometime 

shortly after the ell was built.  It was screened around 1950.  The kitchen wing was built by slave 

labor during the Civil War.  It consists of four rooms on two floors and a separate attic.  The 

rooms added on the second floor were intended for servants’ quarters.  The “new” kitchen was 

connected to the house by a pantry with a root cellar underneath.  The original kitchen, which 

was used as an office until it burned down circa 1899, was near the southeast corner of the house.   

 

The property also contains several outbuildings and a family cemetery.  Despite the fact that 

there was a cemetery connecting to Benjamin’s Smith house, John Smith created a cemetery at 

Oakforest.  John Smith was the first to be buried there in 1843.  Kenan Seawell was the last to be 

buried in the family cemetery in 1979.  It is surrounded by cast iron and brick fencing, but 

originally was stonewalls. Some of the original stone remains in the interior of the cemetery.  

 

The original owner, Benjamin Smith, acquired 66 acres in Johnston County in 1755 through a 

land grant.  Through the years he subsequently acquired a great deal of more land.  He acquired 

274 acres in 1784 for his service for 36 months as a private in the Revolutionary War.  Benjamin 

Smith gave a land deed for 200 acres to his son, John Smith in 1803.   

 

One of John Smith’s daughters, Elizabeth, married Wiley Daniel Jones in 1847.  They lived at 

Oakforest and he became a prominent businessman in North Carolina.  Wiley D. Jones was both 

noted and notorious.  He was an astute businessman, a trustee on the Board of the Raleigh & 

Gaston Railroad, an officer of the Confederate Army, and a political leader in the 

Reconstruction.  During the Civil War, he was a captain of the Wake County Militia and was 

captured at Roanoke.  He spent most of his service as a prisoner of war in the North.  

 

Elizabeth faced many obstacles during the war while managing the plantation in her husband’s 

absence.  On March 24, 1865, the Confederate Army requisitioned the carriage horses from 

Oakforest. Following this, Union soldiers from Sherman’s Army descended on the homestead 

and looted the place. Octavia was home from Saint Mary’s School at the time.  She managed to 

save the hams by hiding them under a blanket and sitting on them while the looting soldiers were 

flirting with her.  They did not take the hams, but did help themselves to the carriage, which was 

later found broken and abandoned near Crabtree Creek in Raleigh. 

 

Despite his imprisonment, Wiley had enough influence to have Union guards stationed at the 

college and his home after his family suffered the looting. He also traveled with Governor 

Holden to see President Andrew Johnson. It is suspected that due to his involvement with the key 

players in the Reconstruction period, threats from the Ku Klux Klan expressing intent to burn a 

cross at Oakforest were a direct result of his political activities. In 1891, the statement that Wiley 

had a “moderating effect on Reconstruction” was written in his obituary. 

 

It was the Jones family that added the 2-story ell and a small porch to house in 1865.  Elizabeth 

and Wiley had two sons and one daughter. John Wesley Jones inherited Oakforest, his brother 

Hamilton was for a time the sheriff of Forestville, and Octavia who became an accomplished 

pianist and music teacher. A piano was bought for her after the war, and still sits in the parlor. 

She married Miles Edward Carver, son of Job and Elizabeth MacDonald Sanderson Carver of 
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Forestville on January 17, 1872. Job was the first person buried in the cemetery at Forestville 

Baptist Church.  John Wesley Jones added a pedimented second story to the west porch in 1895. 

 

After passing from the hands of one family member to another the house came into the 

ownership of Speed Massenburg and his wife, Barbara, and they moved into the house in 1981, 

as the seventh generation of the family to own and live at Oakforest.   

 

Unfortunately, one of the most wonderful symbols of Oakforest is no more. In 1893, the Tryst 

Oak in the pasture was designated the best example of a white oak. Its picture was placed on 

glass with other North Carolina trees in the exhibit of the Chicago Exposition. In 1910, another 

picture of it appeared in the North Carolina Teacher Magazine, when the white oak was chosen 

by the school children as North Carolina’s tree. In the 1950s, it was saved by being filled with 

cement and was called the finest white oak in the Southeast, second only to the Treaty Oak of 

Maryland. In 1992, after the tree had survived two years of being struck down the middle by a 

lightning bolt, it gave up. Its origins as an acorn reportedly date to 1215, the year the Magna 

Carter was signed. The tree has served as excellent firewood for the hearth in the library, and its 

acorns are slowly developing into future tryst oaks. 

 

The American boxwoods, however, are still growing. They also serve as a symbol for Oakforest. 

The alley of boxwoods lines the original front drive, and is assumed to have been planted prior to 

the Civil War. A picture taken in 1886 where they are shown to be quite existential provides 

conclusive evidence. There are also English boxwoods to the north that line a kitchen garden and 

pathway. They were planted in the 1930s. 

 

Until 1950, Wake County was more rural than urban. Oakforest is one of the few reminders of 

that time left in Wake Forest’s jurisdiction. When Kelly A. Lally wrote The Historic Architecture 

of Wake County, it was placed on the North Carolina study list (see p. 250). In 1998, it was 

placed on the National Register based on its historical and social history significance. There are 

extensive archives of primary sources at Oakforest and other family homes as well as 

photographs in the North Carolina Collection of the Department of Cultural Resources. 
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PUREFOY-CHAPPELL HOUSE: 
 

 

The Purefoy-Chappell House, located at 1255 South Main Street, was listed on the National 

Register of Historic Places on October 22, 2008 and designated as a local historic landmark 

property on December 16, 2008.  The house and outbuildings, including the c. 1862 doctor’s 

office, are rare survivors of once common forms.  The house and outbuildings are also survivors 

of the once flourishing Town of Forestville.  As an early nineteenth century 1-room house with a 

rear shed room, the Purefoy-Chappell House represents an early common, vernacular regional 

house type found in North Carolina.   

 

The house is comprised of four major sections -– a c. 1838, 1½-story, side gable, single pile main 

block with a rear shed wing; a c. 1895, 2-story, side gable, single pile addition built onto the 

south gable end of the original house; a 2-room side gable kitchen/dining building dating to c. 

1838 that was connected to the main block and the c. 1895 addition by a 1-story hyphen 

containing a modern kitchen added in 1974.  A very small 1-story shed roof addition was built c. 

1960 onto the rear of the c. 1895 addition to house a small bathroom.  A 1-story was originally 

on the front façade, facing South Main Street but was removed prior to the widening of the street 

in 1966.  The house stands on a stone foundation and has a metal roof.  The exterior is covered 

Purefoy-Chappell House (1838, c. 1895) 
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by weatherboards and, in some places, board and batten siding.  The windows in the original 

section have 9-over-9 sashes with smaller windows by the chimneys and the c. 1895 wing has 4-

over-4 sash.  Two parged stone shouldered chimneys run up the north side of the house, one for 

the original block and one for the rear shed.   

 

Contributing outbuildings include a c. 1838/c. 1900 smoke house and a c. 1862 doctor’s office.  

The smoke house sits south of the main house.  The heavy timber frame building was extended c. 

1900 with light frame construction and covered with weatherboard.  The 2-room, hip-roof frame 

doctor’s office has a central brick chimney that served as a flue for a stove.  This board and 

batten sided building has two 6-over-6 sash windows in the east room of the building, which 

served as the doctor’s office.  The west room retains its shelves and served as the apothecary and 

storage room for medical supplies.   

 

The house was built on a lot purchased in 1837 by James S. Purefoy near where the Raleigh and 

Gaston Railroad had just been established.  The increase in tax value as of January 1, 1839 

suggests that the house was built in late 1838.  James Purefoy was the son of John Purefoy, the 

Baptist minister and plantation owner who convinced the North Carolina Baptist Convention to 

purchase Dr. Calvin Jones’ 615 acre plantation as the site for what would become Wake Forest 

College.  James and his wife, Mary, lived in the house, raising their two sons, John and Edgar, 

until 1853 when it was sold to Richard Ligon.  James Purefoy joined the Wake Union Baptist 

Church, where his father was the pastor.  He was ordained a Baptist minister in March of 1842 

and served several churches in Wake, Granville, Franklin, and Warren counties until 1889, the 

year of his death.  He also served as treasurer of the Baptist State Convention from 1842 to 1870, 

as the historian for the Central Baptist Association from 1876 through 1888, and as a trustee, 

financial agent, and benefactor of Wake Forest College.  In addition, James Purefoy was a 

businessman and a farmer.  At the request of the college board of trustees, in 1846 he purchased 

a lot on South Avenue across from the campus and built the Purefoy Hotel.  He also purchased 

an adjacent lot and operated a general store.  Purefoy served as the postmaster of Forestville 

beginning in 2839, most likely soon after he had completed building his house and moved to the 

village.   

 

The Leroy Chappell family purchased the house in 1862, building the doctor’s office, and lived 

there until 1964.  Dr. Chappell first studied medicine locally under a Dr. Johnson and then 

attended the University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia for a year.  His first practice was in 

Shallotte in Brunswick County, NC and then moved to Kinston, Lenoir County.  It was there that 

he met his wife, Eliza.  The couple had two sons, Leroy and Henry.  Little is known about Dr. 

Chappell’s career in Forestville, although it appears he was a successful doctor.  G. W. Paschal, 

in the second volume of his “History of Wake Forest College”, states that Dr. Chappell was 

President Wingate’s physician when he died in 1879.   

 

By 1900, Dr. Leroy Chappell, 70 years old, and his wife Eliza, 69 years old, lived in the house 

with their son, Henry, his wife, Bettie, and their newborn son, Frank.  It seems likely that the 

large 2-story wing was added to the original house during the late 1890s, when Henry started his 

family and both couples began to live in the house.  Frank Chappell inherited the house and, after 

his death in 1964, his wife, Celera Chappell, sold the house in 1965.   
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HEARTSFIELD HOUSE:1 
 

The Heartsfield House, located at 9737 Ligon Mill Road, was designated as a local historic 

landmark property on December 20, 2011.  The property includes the home, several outbuildings 

and other structures, and a cemetery.   The well and well house, the historic road bed, and 

cemetery are considered to be contributing to the historic property.  The storage building, horse 

barn and tennis court were all built during the 1990s and are not contributing.  About 200 feet 

south of the house runs an old road bed which may be the remnant of an early road connecting 

“Powell Road”, now US1A, and Fall of Neuse Road.  The small cemetery lies between the old 

road bed and the house.      

 

Heartsfield House is one of the oldest and most prominent homes in the Wake Forest area.  Built 

in 1803, it still has visible in the basement and attic the heavy mortise-and-tenon frame that is 

consistent with this date.  The foundation was built of large stacked granite blocks, a material 

commonly used for foundations in northeastern Wake County.  The Flemish bond double-

shouldered chimneys rank among the county’s finest displays of early 19
th

 century brick work.   

 

                                                           
1
 In the early years deed references and signatures were often, although not always, signed “Heartsfield”.  After 

about 1880 the family seems to adopt the standard spelling “Hartsfield”.  This house is called the Heartsfield House 

because that is how Dr. Wesley Heartsfield, the first documented owner, signed his name.   

Heartsfield House (1803) 
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Originally, the house was built in the federal style, a two-story house with a rear 1-story shed.  

Then, around 1850 the style received a Greek Revival makeover, including the addition of the 

wide 1-story front porch, the interior floor plan was altered, and portions of the woodwork were 

replaced.  The front porch was enclosed in the 1950s.  Vinyl siding was installed in 1978.  

Another addition was added to the rear in 1987.  Original window sashes remain in the 1803 

section.   

 

Although Dr. Wesley Heartsfield was the first documented owner, based on documentary 

evidence the house may have been built by or for a member of the Dempsey Powell family. 

 

Wesley Heartsfield was born in 1810, the second child of Andrew II and Siddie Heartsfield.  

Family tradition states that he studied medicine in Cincinnati and returned to Wake County to 

practice.  He married Candace Smith in 1835 and they had nine children.  Over the years he 

accumulated several properties.  Then, in 1848, he acquired the 485 acre tract containing the 

1803 dwelling on Ligon Mill Road.  Physical changes to the house and Greek Revival makeover, 

such as the conversion to the center hall floor plan, change in interior woodwork, and the 

addition of the wide front porch, coincide with Wesley Heartsfield taking ownership.   

 

Family history states that between 1853 and 1863 the Heartsfields lived at the house on Ligon 

Mill Road so his sons could attend a local academy.  The 1860 census lists Wesley Heartsfield 

with forty slaves, which was a very large number for Wake County.  This would classify him as 

a “planter”.  (Historian Kelly Lally describes a “planter” as a landowner owning more than 

twenty slaves.)  Less than five percent of the county’s population was of the planter class.   

 

Three of Wesley and Candace’s five sons died in the Civil War.  In 1866 Wesley Heartsfield 

conveyed 685 acres, including the Heartsfield House, to his son, Jacob Andrew.  Other property 

was conveyed to his other surviving son.  The deed for the Heartsfield House property conveyed 

the tract for the sum of $2.00 and “the love and affection of my beloved son”.  Wesley 

Heartsfield died in 1880 at the age of 70.   

 

Jacob Andrew Heartsfield died in 1915 and in 1916 the house and 89 acres were conveyed to 

Jacob Andrew Hartsfield, Jr.  The property then passed down to his son, Jacob Andrew III in 

1934.  After more than 100 years the house passed out of the Heartsfield family ownership in 

1954 when it was bought by Cary Maupin.  The Maupins enclosed the front porch and added a 

small bathroom on the second floor.  The current owners bought the house in 1974.   

 

The house is significant as an example of high-style rural domestic architecture of the Federal 

period.  The rear addition does not significantly detract from the property’s overall setting, 

architectural style, historic materials or association.   

 

Several early 19
th

 century dwellings survive in Wake Forest and the Heartsfield House compares 

favorably to them.  The Calvin Jones House on North Main Street, built prior to 1820, is a two-

story Federal dwelling with a hall-and-parlor plan interior similar to the original configuration of 

the Heartsfield House.  However, the Calvin Jones House is not on its original site and the 

shouldered chimneys and double-tier front porch are reconstructions.  The 1803 Battle-Purnell 

House, also on North Main Street, reflects a more sophisticated design aesthetic than that of the 
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Heartsfield House and is more closely associated with the plantation homes in Franklin and 

Granville counties than the more modest ones of northern Wake County.  Its front porch is also 

reconstructed.  The c. 1800 Carver House in Forestville retains its Federal proportions, 

chimneys, and windows, but has replacement siding and a 20
th

 century front porch.   

 

The Heartsfield House is a rare surviving early 19
th

 century dwelling of architectural and 

historical importance to the town of Wake Forest and merits designation as a Wake Forest 

Historic Landmark.   
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AILEY YOUNG HOUSE: 
 

 

 

The Ailey Young House, located at 320 North White Street, was designated a local historic 

landmark property on June 19, 2012.  The property was purchased by the Town of Wake Forest 

during the 1990s for future cemetery expansion.  The house was boarded up in 2009 to help 

protect it from vandals and damage due to exposure.  In early 2012 the town cleared the property 

of most trees and underbrush.   

 

This long-abandoned, partially-burned 1 ½-story saddlebag house sits on high, finely crafted 

fieldstone piers on a lot located on North White Street, north of Spring Street and south of the 

town cemetery.  The saddlebag house consists of two frame pens flanking a very large stone 

chimney with a brick stack.  Large fireplaces served the main room of both pens.   In the right 

front corner of the east pen, a stair ascends to the second floor.  A similar stair accessed the 

second floor on the west pen but these were destroyed in the fire.  The right (east) pen has 

horizontal sheathed walls and a mantel.  Each pen has a front door that opened onto a shed-

roofed porch that has collapsed.  Window openings have lost their sashes with the exception of 

one 4-pane upper sash surviving on the rear.  Apparently some of the larger openings held 6-

over-6 sashes. Its sills and the boards of the walls are circular sawn. Visible nails include square, 

Ailey Young House (c. 1875) 
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machine-cut nails, finish nails, and wire nails.  Its apparently original board-and-batten siding, 

with beveled battens, is in sound condition.  

 

The saddlebag style house was commonly in use as slave housing.  This house, however, is a 

much grander version.  It was probably built around 1875 or maybe a little earlier.  It is most 

certainly a rare example of Reconstruction Era post-Civil War housing for the African American 

working class.  According to local restoration carpenter, Patrick Schell, “There’s just nothing 

like this left.”  The fancier houses tend to survive, but something like this, the housing for regular 

folks, especially African Americans, is extremely rare!   

 

The Ailey Young House may be the oldest African American historic building in Wake Forest, 

and has historical significance as the childhood home of one of the town’s most important 

African American citizens. The house was constructed as rental housing by Wake Forest College 

Professor William G. Simmons and was one of a number of houses known as “Simmons Row”.  

These houses appear on the 1915 to 1936 Sanborn Fire Insurance maps.  All the other houses are 

long gone.  After Professor Simmons’ death his widow sold the houses to families and 

subdivided land in the area.  This area formed the beginning of what is now known as the East 

End area.   

 

Ailey Young purchased the house and raised her family there.  The house was the childhood 

home of her son, Allen Young, the town’s most significant African American educator.  He 

attended Shaw University and taught public school in Wake County until 1905 when he and 

others organized the Presbyterian Mission School for Colored Boys and Girls, a name that was 

soon changed to the Wake Forest Normal and Industrial School, the first school for black 

children in Wake Forest.  Allen Young served as its principal. At least one of his children taught 

there.  The school was a thriving private institution in the 1910s and attracted boarding students 

Wake Forest Normal and Industrial School (1910s) –Courtesy of N.C. Division of Archives & History, Raleigh, NC 
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from northern states in the 1920s and 1930s when over 300 students were enrolled.  The 

reduction in attendance after the opening of the DuBois school, a Rosenthal public school, finally 

resulted in its closing in the 1950s.  Allen Young also founded the Presbyterian Church for 

African Americans and operated a dry cleaning business that catered to Wake Forest College. 

The last family member to live in the house was Hubert Young. No one has lived there since the 

1970s. 

 

Allen Young’s daughter, Ailey Mae Young, a schoolteacher, was the first African American 

town commissioner, serving in the 1970s, and the second woman.  She was first elected to office 

in 1971 and re-elected in 1975.  The Ailey Young Park is named for her.   

 

All buildings associated with the Young family or with the school have been destroyed.    
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